## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

SANDERSON FARMS, INC.

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CAUSE NO. 2009-WC-00840-COA

DEBRA F. JOHNSON

APPELLEE

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Court evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Judge Mark Henry, Administrative Law Judge for the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission
- 2. Honorable Douglas S. Boone and his law firm, Gilchrist Sumrall Yoder & Boone, PLLC, Attorney of record for Sanderson Farms, Inc.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE

Is the decision of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission that Claimant's alleged carpal tunnel syndrome is work related, arbitrary and capricious when that decision is based on medical opinions which were not supported by any scientific evidence when contra evidence was presented based upon scientific evidence that carpal tunnel syndrome is not caused or contributed to by work?

ι

i

1

i.

Ł

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- On October 19, 2001, the Appellee, hereinafter referred to as the Claimant, filed a Petition to Controvert alleging that on the \_\_\_\_\_ day of August, 2000, she suffered a compensable injury to both hands, wrists and arms by using scissors on the line. (Record Excerpts pg. 2)
- The Appellant, hereinafter referred to as the Employer, filed a timely Answer denying the Claimant suffered a compensable injury. (Record Excerpts pg. 3)
- 3. An evidentiary hearing was held on June 27, 2006, and Administrative Judge Mark Henry issued his Order on November 29, 2006, finding that the Claimant suffered a compensable injury and awarding the following: (1) temporary total disability benefits in the amount of \$173.43 each week beginning August 16, 2000, and continuing through November 22, 2003; (2) penalties and interest on any due and unpaid compensation benefits from the due date of each installment of such benefits; (3) reasonable and necessary medical supplies in accordance with the fee schedule. Judge Henry reserved determination of permanent benefits pending an examination by Dr. Vohra. (Record Excerpts pg. 25)
- Judge Henry in a separate Order of November 29, 2006, appointed Dr. Vohra to perform an independent medical evaluation for permanent disability purposes. (Record Excerpts pg. 23)
- 5. On December 12, 2006, Employer filed a Petition for Review Before the Full Commission and on January 19, 2007, the Full Commission held that the Petition for Review was interlocutory in nature and, therefore, dismissed same without prejudice. (Record Excerpts pg. 52)
- 6. On August 22, 2007, Judge Henry issued his Final Order awarding forty weeks of permanent partial disability benefits (10% to each upper extremity) and ordering a credit of \$500.00 for funds expended by the Employer in payment to Dr. Vohra. (Record)

Excerpts pg. 63)

i

ι

t

- On or about August 24, 2007, Employer filed its Petition for Review Before the Full Commission and requested oral argument. Oral argument was granted. (Record Excerpts pg. 68)
- 8. Claimant did not file a cross-appeal.
- 9. On April 3, 2008, the MWCC reversed the Order of the Administrative Judge as to the permanent disability award reducing it from 10% for each upper extremity to 5% for each upper extremity (20 weeks) but affirmed the opinions of the Administrative Judge in all other respects. (Record Excerpts pg. 71)
- 10. Employer filed a Notice of Appeal with the MWCC on April 18, 2008. (Record Excerpts pg. 74)
- 11. Appeal Bond to the Circuit Court, Pike County, with Supersedeas was approved by the Pike County Circuit Court on April 23, 2008. (Record Excerpts pg. 77)
- 12. On May 12, 2009, the Circuit Court affirmed the Order of the Commission. (Record Excerpts pg. 82)
- On May 26, 2009, Sanderson Farms, Inc., the Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal. (Record Excerpts pg. 88)

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Carpal tunnel syndrome is an abnormality of the median nerve at the wrist. The median nerve serves the thumb, index, middle and one-half of the ring finger. The median nerve runs through the carpal tunnel which is a narrow space inside the wrist. If one has carpal tunnel syndrome one may feel tingling and numbness in the thumb, index, middle and half of the ring finger. A carpal tunnel release is a rather simple operation which simply cuts the transverse carpal ligament at the wrist which takes the compression off the median nerve. Carpal tunnel syndrome is diagnosed by its clinical symptoms as described and by nerve conduction studies which measure the impulses in the median nerve to determine whether those velocities have slowed. If the median nerve does not slow down, you are not developing carpal tunnel syndrome. (Exhibit Vol. II, Exhibit 15, Pages 66 and 72)

Thirty-five years ago few people had ever heard of carpal tunnel syndrome and fewer still had ever alleged that it was a work related phenomena. Over the years, it has become the illness and work injury du jour. Everyone in this country including physicians have assumed that carpal tunnel syndrome is a direct result of repetitive motion at work or that such contributed to the condition. Scientific studies now establish that the notion of carpal tunnel syndrome as a cumulative trauma disorder is no longer tenable. (Exhibit Vol. II, Exhibit 15)

Employer asked Dr. Nortin M. Hadler to review this case for purposes of trial. We would invite the Justices to review Dr. Hadler's *curriculum vitae* appearing as an exhibit to Dr. Hadler's deposition. (Exhibit Vol. II, Exhibit 15) The CV is eighteen pages long and it reflects an extraordinary body of work by Dr. Hadler. He graduated from Yale College *magnum cum laude* with highest honors in biology in 1964. He went to Harvard Medical School and graduated *cum laude* in 1968. He interned at Massachusetts General Hospital and was a clinical investigator at the National Institute of Health. He has been a Professor of Medicine at the University of North Carolina since 1973. He has served many adjunct academic appointments including

ı.

Georgetown, Harvard, Harrow England, Paris V University and Maizuri Municipal Hospital in Kyoto, Japan. His academic and professional trainings include Phi Beta Kappa and AOA which is the equivalent of Phi Beta Kappa for medical students. He has been inducted as a Fellow in the American College of Rheumatology, the American College of Physicians and the American Occupational Environmental Medicine Association. He has been board certified by the National Board of Medical Examiners and the American Board of Internal Medicine. He has served as an investigator for the NIH, World Health Institute and the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. He serves on a host of committees and foundations. He has also served as an editor and advisor on the editorial boards and advisory boards of a host of peer review publications including The Journal of Occupational Environmental Medicine. He has lectured all over the world and he has published over ninety peer reviewed articles, many of which are on the subject of this litigation. He has authored ninety-eight book chapters, review articles and editorial and other invited articles. He has also testified before Congress and with OSHA on proposed ergonomic He has published eleven books, ten of which concern occupational and standards. muscoskeletal disorders.

Dr. Hadler is an extraordinary man with an extraordinary body of work. What he is first and foremost is a scientist. Regrettably, the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission ignored his testimony as to the scientific data now available which establishes that carpal tunnel syndrome is not a work related phenomena.

L

ī.

i.

Dr. Hadler discussed several studies on carpal tunnel syndrome during his testimony that show that the belief that carpal tunnel syndrome is caused by repetitive movement is no longer a tenable hypothesis. (Exhibit Vol. II, Exhibit 15)

Claimant began working at Sanderson Farms on or about August 12, 2000. She worked approximately fourteen weeks and averaged approximately thirty hours per week during her tenure. After an orientation period, her job was to back up a machine that cut the skin and windpipe at the neck of the chickens. Essentially, her job was to cut the skin and windpipes if

the machine failed to accomplish that task. She would use scissors in her <u>right</u> hand. It was not necessary to use her left hand in the performance of her job, but could, and the left hand would be used only to steady the product and such did not require any flexion of her wrist. She was required to cut the flesh and windpipes no more than one to four times a minute and only if the machine failed to do its task. (T. 115-120, and E6 Pages 8-11) <u>Claimant complains that she</u> acquired bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome within two weeks of her limited exposure at <u>Sanderson Farms</u>. Lisa Cain, Claimant's supervisor, testified that in her thirteen years of work at Sanderson Farms no one had suffered any wrist injury doing her job. (T.121) Notwithstanding the fact it was not necessary for Claimant to even use her left hand in the performance of her job, Dr. Haimson performed a <u>surgical release</u> of the carpal tunnel of Claimant's <u>left</u> wrist and Claimant considers herself totally disabled. She used scissors in her right hand and did little work with her left. We note she has considered herself totally disabled for at least six years prior to her employment at Sanderson Farms and had been on a "quest" to be declared disabled for some twelve years. (T. 58)

The Claimant since 1994 (six years prior to her employment at Sanderson) has considered herself totally disabled. Prior to her work at Sanderson Farms, she applied for Social Security Disability in 1994, 1996 and in 1999. She applied once again in the year 2000 after leaving her 13-week employment at Sanderson Farms.

In applying for Social Security Disability, Claimant alleged the following, to-wit:

I suffer with a severe and disabling lower back condition and severe headaches. I had a motor vehicle accident in 1994 in which I hurt my right leg and knee. My left shoulder goes numb. My right hand had bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome. My right hand stays in constant pain. I am not able to bend due to severe pain in my back. I also have severe pain in my left hand. (Exhibit 9)

Claimant testified that since 1994 she had been on a 12-year quest to be a Social Security Disability beneficiary. (T. 58) Again, her quest started six years prior to her 13-week employment with Sanderson Farms.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Claimant began working at Sanderson Farms on or about August 12, 2000. She worked approximately fourteen weeks and averaged approximately thirty hours per week during her tenure. After an orientation period, her job was to back up a machine that automatically cut the skin and windpipes of chickens. Essentially, her job was to cut the skin and windpipe if the machine failed to accomplish the task. She would use scissors in her <u>right</u> hand and she could use her left hand to steady the product although it was not necessary to use her left hand at all in the performance of this job. She was not required to place any tension with her left hand other than to steady the product and such did not require any flexion of her wrist. Her job at Sanderson was very light and redundant to a machine. Inasmuch as her job was redundant to a machine, she was not required to cut the skin and windpipes of more than one to four chickens a minute. (T. 115-120; E-6 pages 8-11) Claimant complains that she acquired bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome within two weeks of her tenure at Sanderson Farms. Claimant had a carpal tunnel release on her <u>left</u> wrist. We note she used scissors in her <u>right</u> hand and did almost nothing with the left. (T. 115-120; E-6 pages 8-11)

Dr. Nortin M. Hadler is the leading expert in the country on workplace muscoskeletal disorders. He is a professor of medicine. He served as a National Institutes of Health investigator and the same at World Health Organization. He has lectured extensively all over the world. He has authored over two hundred publications, half of which are peer reviewed, and he has authored ten books on muscoskeletal disorders. We invite the Court to review his *curriculum vitae* which is attached as an exhibit to his deposition. (Exhibit Vol. II, Exhibit 15) He has produced an extraordinary body of work.

Dr. Hadler's deposition was taken and the first sixty-five pages of the deposition relate to his qualifications to testify as to the etiology of carpal tunnel syndrome. There is no man more qualified in the world regarding this matter than Dr. Hadler. Attached to his deposition is his report. (Exhibit Vol. II, Exhibit 15) Dr. Hadler set forth the science regarding carpal tunnel

i

syndrome which is composed of both cross sectional studies and powerful epidemiological longitudinal studies which establishes conclusively that an association of hand usage and carpal tunnel syndrome is scientifically untenable.

The Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission relied on the testimony of Dr. Haimson and Dr. Passman, orthopedic surgeons from Natchez. Both Dr. Haimson and Dr. Passman were cross-examined extensively regarding their gualifications to give testimony on the etiology of carpal tunnel syndrome. Neither could point to a single scientific study suggesting that carpal tunnel syndrome is a work-related phenomenon. Their opinions were nothing more than speculation. Dr. Passman and Dr. Haimson's testimony should have been excluded under the principles of *Daubert* and if not excluded, given no weight. We respectfully submit that MWCC erred in admitting their testimony and accepting their testimony as to causation. The Employer presented un-refuted scientific evidence through the testimony of Dr. Hadler that Claimant's alleged condition at Sanderson Farms had absolutely nothing to do with the physical requirements of her job. The science consisted of powerful and compelling epidemiological studies which establish that carpal tunnel syndrome is not caused or contributed by work. The Commission's reliance on opinions from physicians which are not supported by science when those opinions are contra to compelling cross-sectional and longitudinal epidemiological studies is arbitrary and capricious and the decision of the Commission should be reversed.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Standard of Review is noted in Fresenius Medical Care and Continental Cas. Co. v.

Woolfolk, 920 So. 2d 1024 (Miss. Ct. of Appeals 2005), to-wit:

The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that it is not within the authority of a reviewing court to re-weigh the evidence in order to determine whether the preponderance of the evidence "might favor a result that is contrary to the Commission's determination." Hollingsworth v. I.C. Isaacs and Co., 725 So.2d 251, 254 (¶ 11) (Miss. Ct. App. 1998). "So long as there is substantial evidence in the record to support the Commission's findings, this Court is obligated to affirm the Commission." Id. at 254-55 (11 11-12). "Although it is true that the Workers' Compensation Commission is the trier of facts and its orders will be affirmed where there is substantial evidence to sustain its findings, nevertheless, the substantial evidence rule is sufficiently flexible to permit the Court to examine the record as a whole to check for errors." Universal Mfg. Co. v. Barlow, 260 So.2d 827, 831 (Miss. 1972). "Courts have often reversed the Workers' Compensation Commission when the Commission acted against the great weight of the testimony." Id. (citing M.T. Reed Const. Co. v. Garrett, 249 Miss. 892, 164 So.2d 476, 477-78 (Miss. 1964)). Fresenius Medical Care and Continental Cas. Co. v. Woolfolk, ex rel., 920 So. 2d 1024, 1031 (Miss. App. 2005).

Reversal is proper only when a Commission's order is not based on substantial evidence, is arbitrary or capricious, or is based on an erroneous application of the law. *Id.* (citing *Smith v. Jackson Const. Co.,* 607 So. 2d 1119, 1124 (*Miss. 1992*)). Fresenius Medical Care and Continental Cas. Co. v. Woolfolk, ex rel., 920 So. 2d 1024, 1029 (Miss. App. 2005).

#### ARGUMENT

Is the decision of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission that Claimant's alleged carpal tunnel syndrome is work related, arbitrary and capricious when that decision is based on medical opinions which were not supported by any scientific evidence when contra evidence is presented based upon scientific data that carpal tunnel syndrome is not caused or contributed to by work?

#### What is carpal tunnel syndrome?

. . . .

.

Carpal tunnel syndrome is compression of the median nerve at the wrist. The median nerve serves the thumb, index, middle and one-half of the ring finger. The median nerve runs through the carpal tunnel which is a narrow space inside the wrist. Upon compression of the median nerve one may feel tingling and numbness in the thumb, index, middle and half of the ring finger. A carpal tunnel release is a rather simple operation which simply cuts the transverse carpal ligament at the wrist which takes the compression off the median nerve. Carpal tunnel

syndrome is diagnosed by its clinical symptoms as described and by nerve conduction studies which measure the impulses in the median nerve to determine whether those velocities have slowed. If the median nerve does not slow down, you are not developing carpal tunnel syndrome. (Exhibit Vol. II, Exhibit 15, pages 66 and 72)

#### Scientific evidence has established that CTS is not caused by work.

Thirty-five years ago few people had ever heard of carpal tunnel syndrome and fewer still had ever alleged that it was a work related phenomena. Over the years, it has become the illness and work injury du jour. Everyone in this country including physicians have assumed that carpal tunnel syndrome is a direct result of repetitive motion at work or that such contributed to the condition. Scientific studies now establish that the notion of carpal tunnel syndrome as a cumulative trauma disorder is no longer tenable. (Exhibit Vol. II, Exhibit 15)

Employer asked Dr. Nortin M. Hadler to review this case for purposes of trial. We would invite the Justices to review Dr. Hadler's curriculum vitae appearing as an exhibit to Dr. Hadler's deposition. (Exhibit Vol. II, Exhibit 15) The CV is eighteen pages long and it reflects an extraordinary body of work by Dr. Hadler. He graduated from Yale College magnum cum laude with highest honors in biology in 1964. He went to Harvard Medical School and graduated cum laude in 1968. He interned at Massachusetts General Hospital and was a clinical investigator at the National Institute of Health. He has been a Professor of Medicine at the University of North Carolina since 1973. He has served many adjunct academic appointments including Georgetown, Harvard, Harrow England, Paris V University and Maizuri Municipal Hospital in Kyoto, Japan. His academic and professional trainings include Phi Beta Kappa and AOA which is the equivalent of Phi Beta Kappa for medical students. He has been inducted as a Fellow in the American College of Rheumatology, the American College of Physicians and the American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine Association. He has been board certified by the National Board of Medical Examiners and the American Board of Internal Medicine. He has served as an investigator for the NIH, World Health Institute and the Robert Wood Johnson

10

L.

Foundation. He serves on a host of committees and foundations. He has also served as an editor and advisor on the editorial boards and advisory boards of a host of peer review publications including *The Journal of Occupational Environmental Medicine*. He has lectured all over the world and he has published over ninety peer reviewed articles, many of which are on the subject of this litigation. He has authored ninety-eight book chapters, review articles and editorial and other invited articles. He has also testified before Congress and with OSHA on proposed ergonomic standards. He has published eleven books, ten of which concern occupational and muscoskeletal disorders. (See Hadler's CV attached as an exhibit to his deposition appearing as Exhibit 15, Exhibit Vol. II)

Dr. Hadler is an extraordinary man with an extraordinary body of work. What he is first and foremost is a scientist. Regrettably, the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission ignored his testimony as to the scientific data now available which establishes that carpal tunnel syndrome is not a work related phenomena.

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