IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

SANDERSON FARMS, INC.

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CAUSE NO. 2009-WC-00840-COA



DEBRA F. JOHNSON

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certified that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Court evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- Judge Mark Henry,
 Administrative Law Judge for the Mississippi Workers'
 Compensation Commission
- 2. Hon. John T. Ball, Attorney at Law Attorney of record for Debra F. Johnson

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Full Commission affirmed the Order of Administrative Law Judge Mark Henry, who found in favor of the Claimant on the issue of compensability. He relied on the opinions of the two treating orthopedic surgeons, Dr. Passman and Haimson, who opined that the Claimant had bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome that was caused or materially contributed to by the working conditions at Sanderson Farms. Judge Henry noted that Dr. Alexander found no objective indications of carpal tunnel syndrome but then agreed with the opinions of Dr. Passman and Dr. Haimson regarding the EMG nerve conduction findings of bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome.

Dr. Hadler performed a "paper review" for the Employer and opined that Ms. Johnson did not have carpal tunnel syndrome, and if she did, her condition would not be causally related to her work because carpal tunnel syndrome is never related to repetitive work activities. Dr. Hadler never examined Ms. Johnson and did not have the benefit of the depositions of Dr. Passman and Dr. Haimson.

The rulings noted that in resolving conflicting medical opinions, the Mississippi Court of Appeals has stated that treating physicians' opinions can often carry more weight than those physicians who examine the claimant solely for the purpose of testifying. *Stewart v Singing River Hospital*, 928 So.2d 176, 183 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005), quoting *Clements v Welling Truck Service*, *Inc.*, 739 So.2d 476, 478 n.1 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999), which in turn quoted Arthur Larson & Lex K. Larson, *Larson's Workers' Compensation Law*, Section 80.24(b) n.83.1.

Judge Henry, in fact, held that the "well settled preferences for the opinions of treating physicians" should apply even more strongly in this case where the employer's physicians

rendered their opinions before Dr. Haimson performed surgery where he found the irritated median nerve. Judge Henry further noted that the Commission and courts routinely regard orthopedic surgeons as experts in the field of carpal tunnel syndrome. Therefore, orthopedic surgeons are experts in the etiology of carpal tunnel syndrome and as such, they are competent to offer their opinions that a Claimant's carpal tunnel syndrome is causally connected to a claimant's repetitive work activity. The Full Commission affirmed these findings.

Regarding Dr. Hadler's opinions, the Commission noted that the employer did not cite a single decision in which the commission or our courts have accepted Dr. Hadler's opinions. To the contrary, this Commission discounted Dr. Hadler's opinion in *Shirley v Howard Industries*, *Inc.*, MWCC No. 99 11936-H-8093-D (Feb. 24, 2006). Judge Henry then made the profound point that Dr. Hadler's opinions have not been granted general acceptance as a scientific view.

ARGUMENT

Ms. Johnson contends that her carpal tunnel condition was aggravated or lighted up by the assembly line work that she was doing at Sanderson Farms resulting in symptoms in both arms and wrists. Both of her treating orthopedic physicians, J. C. Passman, M.D. and Robert Haimson, M.D., positively testified that the bi-lateral carpal tunnel syndrome was caused by her work, which consisted of working on an assembly line and cutting chickens with scissors in her right hand and gripping the birds as they came down the conveyor belt with her left hand. Both doctors felt that this activity precipitated bilateral carpal tunnel symptoms which resulted in the disability.

Dr. Hadler never examined Ms. Johnson. He did not have the benefit of reviewing any medical records of her carpal tunnel surgery or follow-up treatment. The premise of his studies deals solely with the "etiology" of carpal tunnel syndrome.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has considered many cases over the years dealing with the issue of the aggravation of a pre-existing condition. In order to establish a prima facia case of disability, a workers' compensation claimant must show by a fair preponderance of the evidence:

1) an accidental injury; 2) arising out of and in the course of employment; and 3) a causal connection between the injury and the claimed disability. For the purpose of a workers' compensation claim, an injury arises out of the employment when there is some causal connection between the employment and the injury. Furthermore, a workers' compensation claimant is entitled to benefits if the employment acts upon the Claimant's pre-existing condition to produce disability. Once a workers' compensation claimant establishes a prima facia case of

disability, the burden of proof shifts to the employer. *Mabry v Tunica County Sheriff's*Department and Mississippi Public Entity Workers' Compensation Trust, 911 So. 2d 1038 (Miss. App. 2005). Furthermore, the worker's employment need not be the sole source of an injury. A claim for benefits is compensable if the injury is in part work connected. Therefore, injuries arise out of an in the course of employment even when employment merely aggravates, accelerates or contributes to the injury. The reason for this premise is that the employer takes the worker as the worker is found, with all strengths and weaknesses that the worker brings to the job, including physical strengths and weaknesses. Dependents of Chapman v Hanson Scale Company and Continental Casualty Co., 495 So. 2d 1357 (Miss. 1986).

The best case that explains why carpal tunnel injuries are considered as compensable work-related injuries is found in *Barker v Home - Crest Corporation and CNA Insurance Company*, 805 S.W. 2d 373 (Tenn. 1973). In this case, the Supreme Court of Tennessee held that carpal tunnel syndrome condition is a gradual injury and the "accidental injury" occurs on the date the employee's condition is sufficiently severe to prevent him or her from working. This analysis has its basis in comments from Professor Larson. 1B Larson, Workman's Compensation Law Section 39.40 and 39.50 (1987). Also, citing Workmen's Compensation - Gradual Injuries, 29 Tenn. L. Rev. 477 (1962). Professor Larson comments that the repeated trauma or cumulative trauma doctrine appears to have appeared with a 1921 House of Lords decision.

Following this line of thought, the Mississippi Supreme Court has ruled that when an expert's opinion in a workers' compensation case is based upon an inadequate or incomplete examination, that opinion does not carry as much weight and has little or no probative value

when compared to the opinion of an expert who has made a thorough and adequate examination. Mabry v Tunica County Sheriff's Department and Mississippi Public Entity Workers' Compensation Trust, 911 So. 2d 1038 (Miss. App. 2005). In this case, Dr. Hadler questioned whether Ms. Johnson even had carpal tunnel syndrome. In retrospect, Dr. Haimson, Claimant's treating orthopedic surgeon, testified that during surgery he did find inflammation and entrapment of the carpal tunnel. (Exhibits Vol. I, Exhibit CL-13, p. 65; ARE, p. 63). Dr. Passman, Claimant's other treating orthopedic surgeon, clearly stated on page 38 of his first deposition that Claimant's work activities consisting of working on the assembly line, cutting chickens with scissors in her right hand and holding chickens with her left as they came down the assembly line, was the probable cause of the carpal tunnel symptoms of pain, stinging and swelling experienced by the Claimant while at work. To further support his opinion, it is noteworthy that Ms. Johnson had never experienced any pain, stinging or swelling in either upper extremity prior to her working at the Sanderson Farms plant in McComb, Mississippi. Appellant claims that the Appellee alleged a carpal tunnel problem when she applied for Social Security disability benefits. The cited document is dated 8/9/01, almost a year after the injury date of August 2000 (See Appellant's Brief, p. 6).

The Claimant submits that Dr. Hadler's opinions and studies have no relevance to the issues at hand. However, the Claimant takes issue with Dr. Hadler's conclusions that carpal tunnel syndrome is never the result of repetitive movements of wrists. Dr. Hadler cites no decisions where his theories have been adopted by any courts. One study was conducted in Sweden. He never did any studies in the State of Mississippi and none of his studies involve

carpal tunnel injuries resulting from poultry producing plants (Exhibits Vol. II, Exhibit E-15, p. 62; ARE., p. 65). The latter fact is important in light of Sanderson Farms' own witness, Mattie Walker, who clearly testified to the fact that many employees at the Sanderson Farms Plant in McComb, Mississippi, have suffered from carpal tunnel syndrome. Dr. Hadler's citation of the "Schottland" Study, regarding poultry workers in Alabama is flawed as Dr. Hadler admitted that his study could not test "survivor bias", meaning there was no way to discover how many workers left the plant due to developing carpal tunnel syndrome and therefore, could not be part of the study.

Mr. Boone went to great lengths to question Dr. Passman and Dr. Haimson regarding a study entitled "Longitudinal Study of Median Nerve Sensory Conduction in Industry:

Relationship to Age, Gender, Hand Dominance, Occupational Hand Use and Clinical Diagnosis."

This study is also flawed in that the authors themselves make the point that assembly line workers were under represented when they reviewed the data in 1989 (Page 851, bottom sentence of first partial paragraph).

The Circuit Court opinion discussed the Appellant's position that the treating orthopedic surgeon should not be allowed to provide expert opinions on causation since they were not published and had not done studies regarding the cause of carpal tunnel conditions. The Circuit Court reviewed the cited case of *Fresenius Medical Care Co. v Woolfolk*, 920 So. 2d 1024 (Miss. 2005), where the Court of Appeals reversed the full Commission in awarding benefits to the estate of a deceased employee, where the claimant died from complications caused by a ruptured aneurysm. The claimant argued that the rupture was caused by the stress of a work related phone call requiring the claimant, a nurse, to determine whether or not to provide additional medical

care to a patient. Substantial testimony established that the claimant handled a routine medical call, regarding a situation that arose commonly in the claimant's line of work. The Claimant's expert, a neurosurgeon, who reviewed the record, but never saw the patient, testified that stress, such as that caused by the phone call could cause a rupture. The expert for the employer, also a neurosurgeon, testified that stress could not cause the type of rupture the claimant suffered.

The Circuit Court distinguished the *Fresenius* case based on the finding that the expert opinion was not supported by evidence; where in this case, the Court stated that "the only real dispute is whether the claimant's expert testimony, which states that the repetitive activity that Ms. Johnson performed for Sanderson Farms could have caused carpal tunnel syndrome, should have been admissible under the *Daubert* rule."

The Circuit Court further noted that the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission operates under a "relaxed evidentiary standard" citing Miss. Code Ann. Section 71-3-55 (1) (Rev. 2000); M.W.C.C. Procedure Rule 8 (1993).

The Commission may look to rules of evidence or procedure which apply to courts of law to aid in the consideration of evidence, but it is not bound to strictly follow the rules proscribed for courts of law. Walters v Blackledge, 71 So. 2d 433, 446 (Miss. 1954). The Commission may choose to look to M.R.E. 702 and McLemore for instruction, but if an alleged expert falls short of the McLemore standards, the Commission has the right to relax the formal rules of evidence and admit the testimony if the evidence is 'relevant and competent,' and the admission will help satisfy the overriding concern of how 'best to ascertain the rights of the parties.' Miss. Code Ann. Section 71-3-55 (1) (Rev. 2000); M.W.C.C. Procedural Rule 8(fn2).

Affirming the Order of the full Commission, the Circuit Court found that the testimony of the two treating orthopedic surgeons who had extensive experience throughout their careers in treating patients with carpal tunnel syndrome was both relevant and competent pursuant to Mississippi Statutes and Rules.

The Circuit Court affirmed the Commission's rejection of the Appellant's expert, noting that his testimony went to the weight and not to the admissibility. The Court further stated:

The Claimant's experts testified that the repetitive work for Sanderson Farms caused carpal tunnel syndrome, the employer's expert testified that the work could not have caused carpal tunnel syndrome. The court notes that the employer seems to be urging that his expert has some particular expertise beyond that of the orthopedic surgeons who testified for the claimant. The argument fails. Even if the claim is true it goes to weight not admissibility. The record does not reveal that there is anything so particular or special about the claimant's condition that only the expert offered by the employer should be allowed to offer testimony.

It is worth noting that medicine evolves and competent experts may differ. Medical journal articles are not precedent. Sometimes they are considered persuasive authority for other practitioners. Often they are merely the start of a line of inquiry or the first test of a theory. One article, or a dozen, does not end the inquiry or bind the hands of a trier of fact.

The Appellee submits that the entire testimony of the Appellant's expert is totally irrelevant to this case. As with other pre-existing conditions, a Claimant can aggravate an asymptomatic pre-existing condition to cause symptoms. The Appellee is only required to show that a carpal tunnel condition was aggravated or lighted up by conditions at work, creating pain and symptoms. The pain and symptoms caused the disability.

The treating orthopedic physicians are in a much better position to state opinions concerning the real issues surrounding causation, that being whether the work "caused or substantially contributed" to the disability.

The Appellant's position flies in the face of established case law. The Court of Appeals of Mississippi has recently rendered a decision factually similar to the case at hand. In *Johnson v* Sanderson Farms, Inc., 17 So. 3d 1119 (Miss. 2009), the Court of Appeals of Mississippi affirmed the Commission's finding that the Claimant developed carpal tunnel syndrome while

employed as a deboner and loader of chickens. Sheila Lindley, M.D., the treating orthopedic surgeon, affirmatively testified that Claimant's history and physical examination showed provocative testing for carpal tunnel syndrome even though no nerve conduction studies revealed positive findings for carpal tunnel syndrome. The doctor's opinion that the carpal tunnel syndrome was related to Claimant's repetitive work was based on the Claimant's complaints and on the fact that Claimant received relief from carpal tunnel injections. Dr. Lindley testified that Claimant's work at Sanderson Farms contributed to her carpal tunnel syndrome. The Court found substantial evidence in support of the Commission's findings.

Johnson v Sanderson Farms, Inc. (supra) supports the Appellee's submission that opinions from treating orthopedic surgeons are competent and acceptable in establishing causation in carpal tunnel syndrome cases. The Commission based its finding of causation on the opinions of Dr. Sheila Lindley, the treating orthopedic surgeon. In this case, the Commission considered the opinions of the treating orthopedic surgeons, Drs. Passman and Haimson, as well as the testimony of Appellant's expert, Dr. Hadler, and resolved the issues in favor of the Appellee.

CONCLUSION

The Appellant attempts to overturn settled workers' compensation law that for years has recognized the nexus to repetitive use injuries and carpal tunnel syndrome. "Syndrome" connotes "symptoms" and the "accidental injury" occurs on the date that the employee's condition is sufficiently severe to prevent him or her from working.

The Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission found that the Appellee's symptoms began at work while cutting chicken necks with scissors. The treating physicians have given opinions connecting the injury to the work.

The Appellant asks this Honorable Court to set a new precedent that would remove carpal tunnel injuries from the workers' compensation law in Mississippi. They ask this Court to adopt Dr. Hadler's opinions but cite no case law from any other jurisdiction that supports Dr. Hadler's position. Finally, the studies of Dr. Hadler are inherently flawed and unreliable.

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